1960

# Larry L. Jones and Della Mae Jones v. Grow Investment and Mortgage Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Since this appeal involves a determination of issues of both law and fact, a somewhat detailed statement of the facts is desirable.

After some preliminary negotiations, the respondents, in the latter part of October, or the forepart of November, 1958; purchased from the appellant a new "model" home in Utah County, Utah, located on real property described as follows:

Lot 3, Block 4, Plat "B", Keyyridge Heights  
Subdivision, Orem, Utah County, Utah



Mr. Jones, one of the respondents, first saw the property between October 20 and October 30, 1958 (Tr. 22). He visited the property with the appellant's salesman on at least two and possibly three occasions (Tr. 26 and 27). In addition to those visits, he was given a key to the home and drove by and looked at it a couple of times and showed it to other people (Tr. 27). He made arrangements to purchase the house and moved into it, bachelor style, in November, 1958, and Mrs. Jones arrived from Grand Junction with the furnishings in December of that year (Tr. 21). The property was conveyed to the respondents by the appellant on or about December 12, 1958, by warranty deed, subject to "deed restrictions and easements of record." (Complaint, paragraph 1, Findings of Fact, paragraph 8)

When Mr. Jones went upon the property in the latter part of October, 1958, he observed the irrigation ditch, of which he subsequently complained, along the east end of the property (Tr. 22, 28). He also observed the extension of the ditch as it traversed the east end of the contiguous property on the north, and observed that it was "a big ditch" (Tr. 28). He could see no difference between this open ditch, and its appearance as it traversed the rear of his property, and the same ditch as it extended along its entire length to the north (Tr. 30), and he testified, on cross-examination, that this extended ditch to the north appeared, at the time of trial, to look the same as his ditch did when he moved into the property in question in November, 1958 (Tr. 30).

Notwithstanding the fact that Mr. Jones, a drilling engineer by profession (Tr. 29), observed the ditch at the

rear of his property and its extension to the north, he testified, on cross-examination, that he did not make **any** inquiries of **anyone** concerning the ditch or where any of the water went in any of the ditches he observed (Tr. 29 and 30). The ditch was a large irrigation ditch, about two and one-half feet deep and two and one-half to three feet wide (Tr. 44). Although Mr. Jones testified, at one point, that the ditch appeared to be pretty well filled up (Tr. 22 and 23), it required about six large dump truck loads of gravel and dirt to fill the same (Tr. 152).

Mr. Jones was informed by Mr. Uibel, the appellant's salesman, of the existence and nature of the irrigation ditch toward the end of October, 1958, and was informed of the use made of the same (Tr. 72 and 73). He also was advised that he might fence the property provided such fence were installed on the west side of the ditch (Tr. 73 and 74). Mr. Jones' version of this conversation differed somewhat from the version of Mr. Uibel, when Mr. Jones testified in rebuttal, but he had already testified on cross-examination that he made **no** inquiries of **anyone** concerning the ditch (Tr. 29 and 30).

It is clear from the evidence that in the latter part of October, 1958, when the sale of the property was negotiated and in November, 1958, when the sale was consummated, there was a typical irrigation ditch extending the full width of the property at the rear thereof through which, at regular intervals, there flowed a stream of water amounting to four or five second feet (Tr. 47 and 48). From the southeast corner of the property, irrigation water was conveyed through a covered and water proofed concrete pipe (Tr. 91) extending to the west and across the

street to other properties. There was no clear proof and no substantial evidence that the covered pipe running east and west is actually upon the property of the respondents. The evidence is more persuasive that it is upon the abutting property on the south.

After the transaction had been concluded and the deed to the respondents recorded, the respondents installed a fence on three sides of the property and left the front open (Tr. 23) and installed a 22 inch pipe along the east end of the property and covered the same and leveled the surface (Tr. 25). This pipe connected with the existing pipeline running east and west at the south side of the property and the existing steel protective grating in that pipeline was removed and reinstalled at the north end of the new pipeline by the respondents (Tr. 25). At the time of the trial, there was no visible evidence of any ditch or pipeline on the respondents' property. About Christmas time in 1958 (Tr. 24) and before installing the pipeline at the east end of the property, the respondents commenced to fill in the open ditch, but received an objection thereto by a lower water user as soon as the filling process was started (Tr. 24).

The ditch and pipeline in question service approximately 15 acres of land below the respondents' property (Tr. 6). These water users have received water through the ditch and pipeline in question for several years, including the years 1957 and 1958 (Tr. 10, 11, 13, 14 and 16). The water is used in turns as prescribed by the water master (Tr. 18), and these turns occur about once every week during the irrigation season (Tr. 18). The usual irrigation season runs from May to the last of October (Tr. 41)

(Ex. 4). Mr. Martin, one of the respondents' witnesses, testified, on cross-examination, that he used the water through the irrigation ditch and pipeline in question "every water turn as such is prescribed by the water master \* \* \* \*" (Tr. 18) and the respondents' witness, Mr. Rappleye, when asked to examine his water ticket for 1958 and the spring of 1959 (Ex. 4), and state whether or not he took the water on most of the dates shown thereon, testified: "Well, yes, most of the time" (Tr. 46).

Mr. Jones testified that there was rubbish and debris in the ditch when he examined it in October, 1958, and stated that it looked like a pretty well filled up ditch (Tr. 22). At the same time, he testified that the ditch looked the same at that time as the extension of the same to the north looked at the time of the trial (Tr. 30). Referring to pictures of the open ditch extending north from the respondents' property which were taken at the time of the trial, (Ex. 1, 2 and 3), Mr. Kenner, the respondents' principal witness, testified that it showed a ditch "which is probably quite a typical irrigation ditch with growth \* \* \* \*" (Tr. 33).

Sometime after a covered pipe had been installed by the respondents at the rear of their property, they complained to various officers or personnel of the appellant company by telephone, and at least on one occasion by letter addressed to Mr. Grow, concerning the cost, only, of installing the pipe (Tr. 96), but on no occasion, until the filing of the complaint, was any mention made by the respondents of the pipeline along the south side of the property (Tr. 96 and 97). There was no easement recorded for the irrigation ditch or pipeline (Findings of Fact), but

at the time Mr. Jones examined the property in the latter part of October, 1958, he saw a visible, open irrigation ditch across the rear of said property (Findings of Fact). On the basis of the foregoing, the respondents sought judgment against the appellant for breach of warranty against encumbrances and the court, in its memorandum decision, found for the respondents and entered judgment against the appellant for damages in the sum of \$750.00, from which decision and judgment the appellant has prosecuted this appeal.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO FIND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE EXISTENCE OF THE OPEN, VISIBLE AND NOTORIOUS IRRIGATION DITCH AND EASEMENT DID NOT CONSTITUTE A BREACH OF THE COVENANT AGAINST ENCUMBRANCES.

### POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO FIND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT UPON OBSERVING THE OPEN, VISIBLE, AND NOTORIOUS IRRIGATION DITCH TRAVERSING SAID PROPERTY THE RESPONDENTS HAD AN AFFIRMATIVE DUTY TO INVESTIGATE AND MAKE INQUIRY CONCERNING THE SAME AND THAT INQUIRY OF THE APPELLANT ALONE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT.

### POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO FIND THAT THE EXCEPTION FROM

THE DEED OF CONVEYANCE OF THE COVENANT AGAINST RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS OF RECORD, INCLUDED OPEN, VISIBLE, AND NOTORIOUS EASEMENTS OBSERVED BY THE RESPONDENTS.

#### POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO FIND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE RESPONDENTS WERE ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING ANY CLAIM OF BREACH OF WARRANTY FOR THE EASEMENT ENCUMBRANCE BY VIRTUE OF HAVING HAD ACTUAL NOTICE OF THE EXISTENCE OF SAID EASEMENT OR OF HAVING BEEN APPRISED OF FACTS IMPOSING UPON THEM THE DUTY OF FURTHER INQUIRY.

#### POINT V

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE VISIBLE, OPEN IRRIGATION DITCH ACROSS THE REAR OF THE PROPERTY APPEARED TO DEAD-END AT THE SOUTH LINE OF THE PREMISES INVOLVED AND TO BE ABANDONED.

#### POINT VI

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING OR CONCLUDING THAT THE 22 INCH CEMENT PIPE RUNNING IN A WESTERLY DIRECTION FROM THE END OF THE REAR OPEN DITCH WAS UPON THE PROPERTY IN QUESTION AND IN FURTHER FINDING THAT SAID PIPELINE WAS COMPLETELY COVERED AND NOT VISIBLE TO THE RESPONDENT, LARRY L. JONES.



## POINT VII

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT'S AGENT REPRESENTED THAT THE DITCH AT THE REAR OF SAID PROPERTY COULD BE FILLED IN AND THE YARD LEVELED AND IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO FIND, UPON THE EVIDENCE, THAT THE APPELLANT'S AGENT INFORMED THE RESPONDENT, LARRY L. JONES, THAT SUCH FENCE WOULD HAVE TO BE INSTALLED WEST OF SAID DITCH.

## POINT VIII

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT THE RESPONDENTS FIRST LEARNED THAT THERE WAS AN EASEMENT BY PRESCRIPTION ACROSS THEIR PREMISES FOR SAID IRRIGATION DITCH WHEN THEY HAD PROCEEDED TO FILL IN THE SAID DITCH.

## POINT IX

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENTS WERE DAMAGED BY THE PRESENCE OF SAID EASEMENT IN THE SUM OF \$750.00 AND IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO FIND THAT THE RESPONDENTS SUFFERED NO DAMAGE.

## POINT X

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE RESPONDENTS' WITNESS, MR. KENNER, TO TESTIFY AS TO WHAT HE USUALLY CONSIDERED TO BE A REASONABLE WIDTH OCCUPIED BY AN EASEMENT.

**POINT XI**

THE COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING THE RESPONDENTS' OBJECTION TO THE TESTIMONY OF THE APPELLANT'S WITNESS, MR. GROW, UPON THE QUESTION OF WHAT THE CANAL COMPANY DID IN THE WAY OF ACQUIESCING TO CHANGES IN THE EASEMENT OVER SAID PROPERTY.

**POINT XII**

THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING THE OBJECTION OF THE APPELLANT TO THE QUESTION POSED BY THE RESPONDENTS TO MR. STEIN AS TO THE DIFFERENCE IN THE VALUE OF THE LAND IN QUESTION IF THE SAME WERE 12 FEET NARROWER AND 12 FEET LESS DEEP.

**THE ARGUMENT****POINT I**

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO FIND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE EXISTENCE OF THE OPEN, VISIBLE AND NOTORIOUS IRRIGATION DITCH AND EASEMENT DID NOT CONSTITUTE A BREACH OF THE COVENANT AGAINST ENCUMBRANCES.

The weight of authority and the better reasoned rule in the United States and particularly in the arid and semi-arid regions of the west supports and sustains the proposition that purchasers of property obviously and notoriously subjected at the time to some right of easement or servitude affecting its physical condition, take such property



subject to such right without any express exceptions in the conveyance, and the vendors are not liable on their covenants by reason of the existence of such easement. KUTZ vs. MC CUNE, 22 Wis. 628, 99 Am Dec 85. See also, 55 Am. Jur. 626, Sect. 154 and Anno. 57 A.L.R. 1427 and 1545 and 64 A.L.R. 1482 and 1499. The foregoing case of KUTZ vs. MC CUNE involved a conveyance of a tract of land by a deed containing the usual ocvenants of seisin and against encumbrances, without exceptions to those covenants. At the time of the purchase, between 30 and 40 acres of the land were flowed by a mill-pond created by a dam on land not belonging to the grantor, which dam had been maintained long enough to create a prescriptive right in the owner of it to flow the land in question. The action was brought by the grantee for breach of the covenants of seisin and against encumbrances by reason of this existing right of flowing. The Court pointed out that the same principle has been applied in the case of highways open and in use upon land at the time of the conveyance of the same, RAWLE ON COVENANTS, 141 et Seq; SCRIBNER vs. HOLMES, 16 Ind. 142, and indicated:

“In the case of the highway, the doctrine does not rest upon the fact that the right is in favor of the public, but that the easement is obvious and notorious in its character, and that therefore the purchaser must be presumed to have seen it, and to have fixed his price for the land with reference to its actual condition at the time.”

The Court went on to state:

“The substantial foundation for both classes of decisions is the strong, natural presumption that the parties sell on the one hand, and buy on the other, the

property in its actual physical condition, and subject to such rights, either in favor of the vendor or others, as that physical condition obviously indicates, without exceptions or reservations concerning them in the deed. So that the decisions that an existing highway in favor of the public, and a right of flowing the land conveyed by the vendor, as it was done at the time of the conveyance, do not constitute breaches of the covenant against encumbrances for which the vendor is liable, really rest upon the same principle."

The reasoning of the Courts in supporting this proposition was set out with clarity in the Idaho case of *SCHURGER vs. MOORMAN*, 20 Idaho 97, 117 P. 122, 36 LRA N.S. 313, in his language:

"Encumbrances are of two kinds, viz: (1) such as affect the title: and (2) those which affect only the physical condition of the property. A mortgage or other lien is a fair illustration of the former; a public road or a right-of-way, of the latter. Where encumbrances of the former class exist, the covenant referred to, under all the authorities, is broken the instant it is made, and it is of no importance that the grantee had notice of them when he took the title. Such encumbrances are usually of a temporary character and capable of removal. The very object of the covenant is to protect the vendee against them. Hence, knowledge, actual or constructive, of their existence, is no answer to an action for breach of such covenant. Where, however, there is a servitude imposed upon the land which is visible to the eye, and which affects, not the title, but the physical condition of the property, a different rule prevails."

The Idaho case quoted from the Pennsylvania case of *MEMMERT vs. MC KEEN*, 112 Pa 315, 4 ATL 542, in

which the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania had under consideration the question as to whether an open, notorious easement of which the purchaser had full notice at the time of the purchase and the execution of the deed should constitute a breach of covenant against encumbrances. The Idaho case involved a canal which imposed a servitude upon the complainant's property.

In *DESVERGERS vs. WILLIS*, 56 Ga. 515, 21 Am Rep 289, cited in the Idaho case, the Supreme Court of Georgia had under consideration the question as to whether or not a covenant against encumbrances contained in a deed was broken by the existence of a public road over the land, which was known to the purchaser at the time of purchase. In passing upon that question, Chief Justice Warner, speaking for the court, said:

"The decisions of the Courts of this country are not uniform upon this question, but the weight of authority, we think, is that the existence of a public road upon the land known to the purchaser, is not such an encumbrance as would constitute a breach of the covenant of warranty. This view of the question is sustained by the better reason, especially as applicable to the condition of the people of this State."

In *HOLMES vs. DANFORTH*, 83 Me. 139, 21 Atl. 845, the Supreme Court of Maine also considered the question as to whether or not a covenant against encumbrances was broken by the existence of a public road, and held that the purchaser took the deed with notice of the existence of the road, and that "he must accept the land cum onere, and will not be allowed to complain of that encumbrance as a breach of the covenants in his deed."

In the New York case of *WHITBECK vs. COOK*, 15 Johns 483, 8 Am, Dec. 272, involving, also, the question of a public road, the court said:

“It must strike the mind with surprise that a person who purchases a farm through which a public road runs at the time of purchase, and had so run long before, who must be presumed to have known of the existence of the road, and chooses to have it included in his purchase, shall turn round on his grantor and complain that the general covenants in the deed have been broken by the existence of what he saw when he purchased, and what must have enhanced the value of the farm. It is hazarding little to say that such an attempt is unjust and inequitable, and contrary to the universal understanding of both vendors and purchasers.”

The Idaho case which has been cited in some detail herein involved land coming under the “Carey Act” granting easements over public lands, but this was not the determining factor in the decision.

The question of the effect of the existence of a drainage ditch right-of-way upon a covenant against encumbrances in a deed was also considered in the case of *STUHR vs. BUTTERFIELD*, 151 Iowa 736, 130 NW 897, 36 LRA N.S. 321, and the Court employed this language:

“Ordinarily the allowance of damages to a vendee with full knowledge of the physical conditions evidencing an easement which cannot be changed subsequently by the vendor, and which are so apparent that they must have been taken into account in making the transfer, on a breach of warranty against encumbrances immediately upon receiving a deed containing such

warranty, is little less than putting a premium on dishonesty \* \* \*,"

The California Supreme Court has likewise supported the position of the appellant in the case of *SISK vs. CASWELL*, 112 Pac. 185, in holding that where there is a physical burden on real estate which is visible, the presumption, in the absence of an express agreement, is that the burden is not an encumbrance, within a covenant against encumbrances. See also, *SOMERS vs. LEISER*, a recent Washington case, reported in 259 P. 2d, 843, involving a visible easement.

In the Nevada case of *MONTESA vs. GELMSTEDT*, 270 P. 2d 668, the Court held that where the plaintiff purchased property from the defendant with full knowledge of lateral irrigation ditches and their use, the plaintiff was charged with notice of the apparent easement, and the servient character of her property, even though the deed to her by the defendant contained no express reservation thereof. This case involved land which had formerly been used and cultivated, primarily for agriculture, but was yielding to the inroads of subdivisions and home building. In this respect, the facts sharply parallel those in the instant case.

Open and visible burdens on property are reciprocal and the purchaser of property burdened by such open and visible easements is held to take the same with the benefits and subject to the burdens existing. *WAKEN vs. GILLESPIE*, 153 Okla 78, 4 Pac. 2nd 1028; *ROLLO vs. NELSON*, 96 Pac. 263, 34 Utah 116, 26 LRA (N.S.) 315.



## POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO FIND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT UPON OBSERVING THE OPEN, VISIBLE, AND NOTORIOUS IRRIGATION DITCH TRAVERSING SAID PROPERTY THE RESPONDENTS HAD AN AFFIRMATIVE DUTY TO INVESTIGATE AND MAKE INQUIRY CONCERNING THE SAME AND THAT INQUIRY OF THE APPELLANT ALONE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT.

It is clear from the evidence that the respondents made no inquiry of anyone concerning the irrigation ditch they observed at the back of the property. In response to a question propounded to the respondent, Larry L. Jones, by appellant's counsel:

Q. "Did you make any inquiries of anyone concerning the ditch back of your place?" (Tr. 29)

The respondent answered:

A. "No sir, I did not." (Tr. 30)

Open use and enjoyment of an easement over land is constructive notice to the purchaser of the land of the existence of such easement and the rights of the owner thereof where inspection of the premises would readily reveal such facts as to put the purchaser on inquiry. TAYLOR INV. CO. vs. KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY, 322 Pac. 2nd 817, 182 Kan. 511, citing 28 C.J.S. Easements, 49.

In the New Mexico case of MUTZ vs. LE SAGE, 397 Pac. 2nd 876, 61 NM 219, the court held that one who purchased land across which a well defined, clearly marked road ran and who knew that neighbors were using the road,

but who failed to make inquiry, concerning their right to do so was charged with notice of the facts which an inquiry would have disclosed.

The inquiry to be made by one who sees visible signs of an easement should not be confined to the grantor alone. *WRIGHT vs. WILLIS*, 23 Ky L. Rep. 565, 63 S.W. 991.

For physical conditions which will charge the purchaser of a servient estate with notice of an easement, see Annotations at 41 ALR 1442 and 74 ALR 1250.

### POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO FIND THAT THE EXCEPTION FROM THE DEED OF CONVEYANCE OF THE COVENANT AGAINST RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS OF RECORD, INCLUDED OPEN, VISIBLE, AND NOTORIOUS EASEMENTS OBSERVED BY THE RESPONDENTS.

The record disclosed that there were no written easements of record affecting this property. It is clear in this case that the parties considered the existence of the visible easement and attempted to provide for an exception thereto in the wording of the deed. The fact that unfortuitous circumstances alone decreed that the easement, the existence of which was well known to all the parties to this transaction, was born of prescription and had therefore not been recorded, should not be allowed to defeat the manifest intention of the parties in excepting from the usual covenants of the appellant's deed "restrictions and easements of record". Since there were no easements which had been recorded, it is obvious that the parties contemplated the existence of the visible prescriptive easement and

sought, by the wording of the deed, to signify the intention of the respondents to accept and of the appellant to convey the property burdened with the easement and to provide for its exclusion from any covenant against encumbrances. Recordation is manifestly only a substitute for actual notice. It is constructive or substituted notice and should not be accorded greater weight than the indisputable actual notice of the respondents in this case. The Kansas case of *FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN INSURANCE CORPORATION vs. URSHELL*, 157 Pac. 2d 805, 159 Kansas 674, held that notice of an easement will be imputed to a purchaser where the easement is properly recorded or is of such character that a purchaser, acting with ordinary diligence, would learn of its existence.

#### POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO FIND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE RESPONDENTS WERE ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING ANY CLAIM OF BREACH OF WARRANTY FOR THE EASEMENT ENCUMBRANCE BY VIRTUE OF HAVING HAD ACTUAL NOTICE OF THE EXISTENCE OF SAID EASEMENT OR OF HAVING BEEN APPRISED OF FACTS IMPOSING UPON THEM THE DUTY OF FURTHER INQUIRY.

The argument in support of Point III hereof is equally applicable to Point IV.

There can be no question in this case that the respondents were aware of the existence of the large, open, and visible irrigation ditch. In response to the question put to



the respondent, Larry L. Jones, on cross-examination, as to whether or not he saw a ditch there, he replied:

A. "Yes Sir. I am not blind; I could see that ditch, It was a big ditch." (Tr. 28)

Yet he testified, further, that notwithstanding this fact, he did not make **any** inquiry of **anyone** concerning the ditch (Tr. 30). To employ the language of the Supreme Court of Iowa in the case of *STUHR vs. BUTTERFIELD*, cited above, to permit the respondents, under these circumstances, to later recover for breach of warranty against encumbrances "is little less than putting a premium on dishonesty." This is particularly true where, as in this case, an attempt was obviously made to limit the covenants of the grantor in its deed by excepting easements obviously thought to be of record. In determining the existence of such an easement, the purchaser of the servient estate is chargeable with knowledge of facts which he would have acquired by the exercise of ordinary diligence and the observance of facts of common knowledge in the vicinity. *BERLIN vs. ROBBINS*, 38 P. 2nd, 1047, 180 Wash., 176.

For physical conditions which will charge the purchaser of a servient estate with notice of an easement, see annotations at 41 ALR 1442 and 74 ALR 1250.

## POINT V

**THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE VISIBLE, OPEN IRRIGATION DITCH ACROSS THE REAR OF THE PROPERTY APPEARED TO DEAD-END AT THE SOUTH LINE OF THE PREMISES INVOLVED AND TO BE ABANDONED.**

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