1960

# J. Lowell Platt dba Crystal Pools, Inc. v. C. L. Locke : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

Appellant has chosen to not comment on his first two points, Respondent, shall do likewise. For practical purposes Respondent makes the following argument to Appellant's remaining three points, numbered 3, 4, and 5.

Basically there is only one question to be answered in this case and it is:

Is the contract under which the Respondent did work for the Appellant good?

Appellant does not deny that the work was done, but instead sought means, by failing to pay therefore, to make the Respondent do more work and incur more expenses not contemplated or provided for in the contract. When Respondent refused to be high pressured, Appellant now seeks to evade payment as provided by the contract by contending (1) that Respondent did not have a Specialties Contractors License to build swimming pools; (2) had not filed an affidavit of doing business under an assumed name in the Salt Lake County Clerk's Office and (3) that Respondent was an agent acting without authority.

Concerning Appellant's contention (1) that Respond-

ent did not have a Specialties License to build swimming pools, Appellant prudently ignores the fact that Respondent did have in full force and effect a general contractor's license at all times material to this case.

As a licensed General Building Contractor he was within the definition of contractor set forth and defined by Sec. 58-23-3(3) Utah Code Annotated 1953 as follows:

“Any person \*\* who for a fixed sum \*\* undertakes with another for the construction, \*\* addition to or improvement of any \*\* excavation or other \*\* project, development or improvement, other than to personalty, or any part thereof.”

There is no question that prior to the effective day of May 14, 1957, when the law providing for specialty classifications being made, common in the trade, that anyone holding a general contractor's license could have contracted lawfully to undertake with another for the construction of “any structure \*\* requiring in its construction the use of more than two unrelated building trades or crafts or to do or superintend the whole or any part thereof” and could have lawfully undertaken with another for the construction of an outside garage, fireplace or swimming pool. (R22)

Appellant at page 8 of his brief cites Sec. 58-23-9 (1) (b) as authority for limiting the holder of a General Contractor's License to a specific structure and for a specific purpose.

The Utah State Attorney General in an opinion dated the 23 day of September 1959 directed to John Chase,



Administrator, Department of Contractors, in a detailed opinion which concerns itself with the entire question we are here discussing states as follows:

“Under the provisions of the old law, prior to 1957, only one license was provided for. There were no classifications and the contractor in possession of such a license could lawfully engage in any or all of the numerous contracting fields.”

“The terms of the statute the general building license is broad. Note particularly subsection 58-23-9(1)(b) of the section that the general building contractor is one \*\* requiring \*\* the use of more than two *unrelated* building trades or crafts \*\* is significant in that it does not restrict the general building contractor from engaging in certain specialty fields. Furthermore, the general building contractor may do or superintend the whole of any part of the building or structure. The erection of a home, grocery store or factory involves the use of numerous contracting field (specialties). The statute obviously allows the holder of such a license to do or superintend any or all of such specialties.”

“If a contractor is qualified to perform specialty work on one project, it would be unreasonable to say that he could not perform the same work on another project.”

“If the Department determines that an Applicant for a general builder’s license must qualify in excavation, masonry, carpentry and roofing, etc., then the general building contractor’s license entitles the holder to engage in such specialties either as a part of a building contract which the holder has, or on an individual or special contract.”

The Legislature placed in the new 1957 law which first became effective on the 14 day of May 1957 a not less than a one year "granddaddy clause", Section 58-23-13 (4), as follows:

"All licensed contractors in the state as of the effective date of this act shall be entitled to continue the business of contracting upon complying with the provisions of this act relating to the filing of renewal applications, fees, as herein provided."

The Utah State Attorney General in an opinion dated the 4 day of February 1959, directed to John Chase, Director, Department of Contractors, in a detailed opinion which concerned itself with the foregoing, states as follows:

"The provisions of the statute, quoted above, Section 58-23-13(4) allowing a contractor previously licensed to obtain a renewal license upon payment of the lesser fee, must have been intended to offer relief to contractors licensed, under the old law. The provision, however, must have reasonable limits. We do not believe it was intended to permit contractors to obtain more than one renewal license."

It is submitted that the new act became effective the 14 day of May 1957, the first renewal that could possibly occur would be for the year of 1958. Respondent renewed his General Contractors License effective for the entire year of 1958 and thereunder contracted with the Appellant on April 1, 1958, it necessarily follows that he was properly licensed at the time said contract was executed.

Concerning Appellant's contention (2) that he should not have to pay because Respondent had not filed an affidavit of doing business under an assumed name, Respondent must agree with Appellant's familiarity with the fact that the majority view entertained by the courts is that the legislature did not intend to impose a penalty on the offender of refusing him relief on contracts or transactions without compliance. Authority for the majority view and minority view, if any there be, may be found in *38 Am. Jur. 601 et. Sec. 13-16, 18 ALR 282, 45 ALR 198, 59 ALR 455 and 42 ALR 2d 516 (see III Sect. 4 @ p. 524.*

This Court in the case of *Olsen v. Reese*, 114 Ut. 411, 200 P 2d 733 in holding that a contractor's license was necessary for the recovery stated:

"Our statute is so worded as to indicate a legislative intent to protect the citizens from irresponsible contractors. The Statute while not comprehensive, provides for a small license fee. Control over the contractor is given to the Department of Registration. Upon an appropriate hearing, the department may, for unprofessional conduct, suspend or cancel the license. Good reputation and integrity are essential to obtaining a license and the entire object of the statute is protection of the public against fraudulent and illegal practice, which have always been recognized as a distinct characteristic of statutes, which are not mere revenue measures. The statute being enacted for the protection of the public, Plaintiff's written contract is void \*\*\*\*\*".

It is submitted that none of the foregoing reasons are even remotely applicable to the filing of an affidavit of doing business under an assumed name.

1. There is no license involved.
2. Control is given to no department to administer.
3. No hearings are held.
4. Professional or unprofessional may file alike.
5. Good conduct, reputation or integrity are not essential to filing.
6. The statute in no way protects the public against fraudulent or illegal practices.

This court has recognized and referred to the statute relative to doing business under an assumed name in the cases of:

Christensen v. Johnson, 90 Ut. 273, 61 P 2d 597

Green v. Nelson, 120 Ut. 155, 232 P 2d 776  
and the question has been pointedly ruled upon by the Federal Court in the case of *John Oakason and Thomas N. Deglas d/b/a Western States Map Company v. Lisbon Valley Uranium Company*, 154 Fed. Sup. 692, wherein Judge A. Sherman Christensen held:

“Non compliance with Utah assumed name statute would not preclude recovery by Plaintiff otherwise entitled to recovery for services rendered under a contract, since such Statute is primarily for the convenience of the public rather than protection of the public U.C.A. 1953, 42-2-1, 42-2-4.”

Concerning Appellant's contention (3) that Respondent was an agent acting without authority.

Appellant contends that the trial judge erred in remarking that the Respondent was bound because he was the agent for a non-existent principal, and, therefore, he was bound himself. (R98)

The trial judge also remarked that the Respondent did not need a license to make this contract. (R98)

The trial judge in making the comments that he did, was not ignoring the evidence that Appellant knew that Respondent was not incorporated (R19) or that it is necessary that Appellant must have a contractors license. (R32)

He was in effect commenting on the fact that even in the event Respondent did not have a Specialty Contractor's License and had of been the agent of an undisclosed principal that the Appellant could have held the Respondent liable under any and all such circumstances.

In view of the undisputed testimony that Appellant knew that Respondent was not incorporated (R19), that he chose to breach the contract after milking the Appellant for all he could (R39), his lack of complaints as to the performance of Respondent's workmanship and performance, and being an acknowledged businessman versed in the meanings and obligations of contracts (R84) he was well aware that he was dealing with J. Lowell Platt, d/b/a Crystal Pools Inc. and as the contractor referred to in Exhibit P-1 which Appellant contends at page 17 of his brief to be "an unambiguous, integrated contract."



Appellant further contends at page 17 of his brief “under the circumstances presented in this case the Respondent is now estopped from denying the existence of “Crystal Pools, Inc.,” which he dealt with as a corporation.” It is submitted that it is not the Respondent that comes to this court or any court with dirty hands, it is not the Respondent that breached this contract, it is not the Appellant that has been hurt and if estoppel must be invoked for giving equitable relief in view of the trial evidence, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law made and entered in this case, then such estoppel, if any there be, should be against the Appellant and in favor of Respondent.

## CONCLUSION

In the case of *Whipple v. Fuller*, 5 Ut. 2d 211, 299 P 2d 837 this court states at page 213 of said Utah Reporter:

“For Appellant to escape liability on “the failure to be licensed theory” would subvert the theory of the law.” As the California Court said in *Matchett v. Gould* “\*\*recovery can be had upon the contract in the absence of a license when equity and good conscience dictate such relief as an alternative to a judgment which would convert a law intended for the safety and protection of the public into an unwarranted shield for the avoidance of a just obligation.”

Finally — It is submitted that the Legislature cannot lawfully delegate to the Administrator of the Dept. of Contractors the legislative power to determine by

his thoughts alone which workers must have specialty licenses and when. There is here, by Appellant's own admission, a "unambiguous, integrated" contract which was entered into fairly and squarely by the Respondent. If the contract is good he should be entitled to seek relief thereunder and if the contract is not a good contract he should be hurt.

Respondent submits that the trial court did not commit error in finding for the Respondent.